1979

Jerald L. Kilpack v. LaMark Wignall and David Wignall : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 21, 1976, Defendants LaMark Wignall and David Wignall took five small children, including Jess Allred Kilpack, then barely age 7, to a hayfield, where Defendants commenced gathering hay bales. Jess Allred Kilpack was permitted to climb out the cab of the truck down onto the running board and to ride there, watching two slightly older boys jump off and on the running board for 15 or 20 minutes. Jess Kilpack then attempted to jump off the running board onto a bale of hay, but slipped and was run over by the rear dual wheels of the truck, thereby suffering near fatal, extensive, permanent injuries. On November 15, 1976, the father of Jess Kilpack brought suit in

Utah County against Defendants, seeking recovery for his son's injuries and recovery of medical expenses.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On March 6, 1978, trial was commenced before a Utah County jury, the Honorable Allen B. Sorensen presiding. Plaintiff's counsel attempted to voir dire the jury as to several matters, and after the testimony of the first witness was completed, Defendants' counsel moved for a mistrial on the basis of part of the attempted voir dire, and the Court granted the motion. The case was tried before a second jury on October 2, 3 and 4, 1978. At the close of the evidence, Plaintiff moved the Court for a directed verdict on the liability issues. The trial Court denied the motion and denied a motion made by Defendants for a directed verdict on the liability issues in Defendants' favor. The case was submitted to the jury at noon on October 4, 1978, and after returning from lunch, the jury announced it had reached a verdict. The jury answered the first interrogatory of the special verdict, which inquired as to whether the Defendants, or either of them, were negligent, "No", and did not answer the balance of the questions, except for a portion of a damage interrogatory. The Court entered a judgment on the verdict "no cause of action" and later denied Plaintiff's Motions for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and for a New Trial.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the "no cause of action"

verdict and reversal of the lower court's denial of Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and Motion for a New Trial, and a new trial on the issue of damages on proper instructions, and a determination by this Court that the questions asked, and the other questions sought to be asked of the first jury were proper inquiries, and should have been allowed by the lower court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Resolution of the legal issues of Defendants' negligence and any negligence of the injured minor child requires a review of the evidence on those issues, for the purpose of determining whether reasonable persons could reach different conclusions.

The following statement of facts will first recap the evidence on the negligence issues, witness by witness:

Four witnesses testified concerning the facts and circumstances of the accident: Joel Kilpack, age 9 at the time, one of the other children that accompanied Defendants to the hayfield, Jess Kilpack, then age 7, the injured child, and each of the Defendants.

The record on appeal contains two partial transcripts. The transcript which contains the testimony of the two children from the time they arrived at the hayfield with Defendants to the time of the accident, and the entire testimony of each of the Defendants, is contained in the 90-page partial transcript which has been marked by the Court Clerk Number 143. It is to this

transcript that the below references pertaining to the testimony of the two children and Defendants' testimony are made.

Joel Kilpack testified that Defendants and the five children rode to the field in a red flatbed haytruck (owned by Defendant LaMark Wignall) and that when the truck arrived at the hayfield, the three youngest children, Jess Kilpack, age 7, Debbie Wilson, age 6, and Dennis Wilson, age 5, got in the cab of the truck with Defendant David Wignall, and that he (Joel Kilpack) and Danny Wilson, both age 9, jumped on the running board on the passenger side of the truck after it started, and were thereafter off and on the running board two or three times as the truck proceeded through the hayfield before the accident occurred. (Tr. 3-5, 22, 25) Joel testified that after he and Danny Wilson had mounted the running board of the moving truck they took turns holding on to the brace which held the outside mirror frame on the passenger side of the truck, and would jump back and forth between the running board and bales of hay as they passed a short distance from the running board. (Tr. 4-5) He stated that the hay bales were about two feet out from the running board and that the tops of the bales were about six inches lower than the running board. (Tr. 13-14) After playing on the running board for a while in the manner mentioned, and then jumping off and running to arrange hay bales, Joel Kilpack and Danny Wilson returned and jumped on the running board, but found that the running board was then crowded because Jess Kilpack and Dennis

Wilson were then riding on the running board, so Joel and Danny Wilson actually boosted Dennis Wilson, age 5, back through the passenger window into the cab. (Tr. 5-6; Ex. 4 and 5)

Joel further testified that Danny Wilson slipped off the running board as the truck was moving along and that Jess had to help him clamber back on the running board because he was dragging along as the truck moved. (Tr. 5-6, 10; Ex. 6)

Joel Kilpack further testified that he heard no instructions, comments, or warnings at all as he and Danny jumped off and on the running board, played on the running board, boosted the 5-year old child back up from the running board into the cab of the moving truck, and that as he rode and played on the running board he could plainly see Defendant LaMark Wignall in the back of the truck, moving to place hay bales, and Defendant David Wignall driving the truck. (Tr. 9-10, 22)

Joel explained that the truck was moving at about 5 miles per hour all the time, and that the truck was making noise, and that there was additional noise from the ferris wheel loader as the truck proceeded through the field. (Tr. 12, 23)

He explained that he had never before been out in the hayfield or riding the truck, but that he had no feeling of danger and felt his activities were fun. (Tr. 16, 24)

He said that the truck had been in the hayfield 10 or 15 minutes gathering hay bales at the time Jess Kilpack was run over. (Tr. 14)

Jess Kilpack testified that he recalled no instructions as to where he was to ride when the truck arrived at the field, but

that he joined Debbie and Dennis Wilson in the cab (Tr. 29) After the truck started down through the field, he saw Joel Kilpack and Danny Wilson on the running board, and jumping back and forth holding on to the mirror and that he crawled out of the window down onto the running board while the truck was moving, and that he recalled no instructions or admonishments from either of the Defendants about his crawling out of the window. (Tr. 29) He testified that Dennis Wilson, the 5-year old, then crawled out of the window and that Joel Kilpack and Danny Wilson then pushed him back into the cab, but that nothing was said about that procedure by either of the Defendants, and that after he watched Joel and Danny Wilson straightening bales he jumped off the running board onto a bale and slipped under the wheels of the partially loaded haytruck. (Tr. 29-30) He estimated that he rode the running board for 6 to 10 minutes before he jumped and slipped under the wheels. (Tr. 30-31) On cross-examination, he said that he had been out on the running board about 4 minutes before he jumped and fell under the wheels. (Tr. 34) Exhibit "8", a photograph, illustrates the manner in which Jess Kilpack attempted to jump from the running board onto a bale of hay when he slipped under the wheels. (Tr. 33; Ex. 8) Jess Kilpack testified that nothing was said to him and he could recall nothing being said to Joel Kilpack or Danny Wilson about their riding on the running board, nor when the 5-year old was pushed back up into the cab (Tr. 33-34) He also testified that the truck was traveling approximately 5 miles

per hour before and at the time he jumped off and was crushed under the rear dual wheels, and that the truck had been in continuous motion from the time it started down through the hayfield. (Tr. 39) He had never before ridden on the running board of any moving vehicle and did not know it was dangerous to do so. (Tr. 41) When asked on cross-examination why he jumped off the running board, he stated: " Cause I was going to go play with Joel and Danny, straightening the bales." (Tr. 42) Jess testified that he could see David Wignall driving the truck while riding the running board, and that nothing had been said to him by Joel or Danny about jumping off and that he recalled nothing being said by either of the Defendants about his activities. (Tr. 44) He did recall on cross-examination that someone told him to get into the cab after the truck arrived at the field. (Tr. 46)

Defendant David Wignall is the son of Defendant LaMark Wignall and the oldest of six children. He was 20 years of age at the time of the accident. (Tr. 49-50)

David Wignall described the equipment and features of the flatbed 1964 Dodge ton-and-a-half truck used in the hay bale gathering operation. It had a flat bed with sides, but was not enclosed in back, and had a running board only on the passenger side and outside mirrors; however, the glass was broken out of the mirror on the passenger side, but the frame was still attached to the truck. (Tr. 53-54; Ex. 1, 3, 4, 5, and 8) David Wignall heard one of the children ask Defendant LaMark Wignall whether the

children could go when the parties were at the Wignall farm house prior to leaving in the truck for the field: "One of the kids asked Dad if they could go, and he said something like, 'I don't care', or something like that." (Tr. 55) David Wignall further testified that neither he nor Defendant LaMark Wignall advised or informed anyone at the house, including the older sisters of some of the five children, or anyone else, of the children's desire to be taken to the field and the Defendants willingness to take them; that Defendant LaMark Wignall drove the truck to the field, where a ferris wheel bale loader was attached, and that he then proceeded to drive the truck while Defendant LaMark Wignall took a position in the back of the truck to receive and stack the bales; and that he could not remember whether anything at all was said to the children at that time respecting what they should do or what positions they should take. (Tr. 55-56) Defendant David Wignall further testified that the truck had come back and forth in the field, changing directions one or more times prior to the accident; that it was necessary for him to maneuver the truck to some extent in a zigzag fashion so that the bales could feed into the ferris wheel loader; that he observed and watched the operation of the bale loader by using the mirror on the driver's side of the truck, and that at the time he was somewhat in a hurry to get in the hay and was aware that he had the five children along, including Jess Kilpack, from the time the truck was driven from the house to the field (Tr. 56-58)

David Wignall testified that he did observe the activities of the 9-year old boys jumping up and riding on the running board and then off again. (Tr. 58-59) When asked whether he also observed the 9-year old children jumping back and forth between the bales and the running board, Defendant David Wignall stated: "No, I didn't. I couldn't tell if they was hopping. From what I could tell they were just sticking their foot out and kind of kicking the bale." David Wignall admitted that he was able to observe a portion of the children's bodies above the bottom of the open passenger window, to wit, probably from their shoulders on up, and that he recalled that all three of the smaller children, Debbie, age 6, Jess, age 7, and Dennis, age 5, crawled out of the window and David did say something to them about getting back in, to-wit: "I told them to get back in the cab." (Tr. 60) This instruction, however, was not given until after the children were already out, and thereafter two of the children got back in but Jess Kilpack stayed out on the running board, and that after the truck started down the field, the only time he stopped the truck was not for the children to get back in the cab, but for the bales getting stuck up in the ferris wheel, and that he stopped the truck only once or twice the whole time the truck was in the field prior to the accident. (Tr. 60-61) Defendant David Wignall said nothing at all to the three small children other than just to get back in, and made no effort to enforce it, and said nothing at all to the two 9-year old children about jumping back and forth on and off the

running board all the while the truck was proceeding, and that except for one or two stops for hay bale jam ups, he drove five miles an hour. (Tr. 61) Defendant David Wignall testified that the bales were arriving at the Ferris Wheel "every five or ten seconds" (his deposition) or "between ten to fifteen seconds" (his testimony at trial). (Tr. 62-63). Defendant David Wignall admitted that he could see Jess Kilpack riding out on the running board prior to the time he jumped and that it was "probably about fifteen minutes or so" after the children went out the window onto the running board to the time of the accident, and that only a total of approximately twenty minutes of elapsed time expired from the time the truck started in the hay field until the time of the accident. (Tr. 63-64) During his deposition, Defendant David Wignall testified that it was Jess Kilpack who first crawled out the window. (Tr. 64) David Wignall admitted that he regarded the five children as being a kind of a nuisance out on the hay bale gathering operation. (Tr. 65)

During David Wignall's examination by his own counsel, he further described that it was necessary for the truck to vary from a straight course to go out and gather a hay bale; that it was necessary for him to look out the window on the driver's side to see that the bale was lined up properly; and that the attention he was required to devote to the picking up of the hay bales was "almost absolute"; that he thought Joel Kilpack may have been out on a prior trip; that Danny Wilson had been out on a prior trip,

but on prior trips none of the children were permitted to ride on the running board; and that there were many times when he had enough time to look to the right to see what the kids were doing on the running board, and that what he saw looking to the right "most of the time was just Danny and Joel were out standing there. I don't know, talking and from what I could see, kicking the bales as they would go by". (Tr. 65-67) Further, in answer to questions propounded by his own counsel, David Wignall stated that at the time Jess Kilpack was run over, between a quarter and a half load of hay had been gathered; that it took forty-five minutes to an hour to get a full load; that the bales would get stuck probably three or four times requiring stopping the truck momentarily for each full load; that the bales of hay passing the truck on the passenger side would vary in distance from the truck from right against the running board to probably three or four feet away; and that the top of the bales of hay relative to the level of the running board on the passenger side would probably be about even or a couple of inches either way. (Tr. 67, 69-70)

Defendant LaMark Wignall testified that he has a B.S. Degree in Education from B.Y.U., taught school, primarily the 5th grade, but had had occasion to teach children in the 4th grade as well and that his duties in the grade school included at times supervision of children on the playground and other areas and that he was aware of the nature and propensity and capabilities of children six, seven, eight and nine years old. (Tr. 73-74)

He stated that he was the owner of the 1974 Dodge Ton & one-half truck and he described a few differences in the equipment on the truck as depicted in the illustrative photographs from the equipment on the truck at the time of the accident. In this regard, the photographs depict a tail gate, also a black portion above the sides of the truck and glass in the outside mirror on the right-hand side, which items were not present on the truck at the time Jess Kilpack was run over. (Tr. 74-75; Exhibits 1,3-6,8)

LaMark Wignall testified that neither of the two Kilpack children had been out in the field on any prior load; that he had no discussion with any of the children's mothers prior to taking the children to the hay field and no discussions with two older girls at the home about taking the smaller children to the hay field and that he was asked for and granted permission to the children to go to the field. (Tr. 75-77) As to instructions given the children at the time the truck arrived in the field, Defendant LaMark Wignall stated:

"When we stopped the truck in the field and the Ferris Wheel was being hooked up I told them that they could not ride in the back, since hay would be coming in there and that they would either have to get in the cab or clear out away from the truck into the field". (Tr. 77)

Defendant LaMark Wignall said that the Ferris Wheel loader was capable of being raised and lowered in height from the back of the truck without requiring the operator to get down on the ground and that he would walk back and forth taking the bales

from the Ferris Wheel loader and stacking them first either along the side or up at the front. (Tr. 78) He stated that he noticed the two older boys out away from the truck some distance into the field when the truck first started, but that he did not observe anything further respecting the activities of the two nine-year olds. (Tr. 78-79)

As to the activities of the three smaller children climbing down onto the running board, Defendant LaMark Wignall testified as follows in his deposition and admitted his answers were correctly given when examined about the same subject matter at trial:

Question: "You noticed some activity of the kids getting outside of the truck. One or more of the three I guess?"

Answer: "Yes."

Question: "What did you observe in that regard? Where were they and what were they doing?"

Answer: "I seem to remember that some of them were climbing out of the window on to the running board of the truck. The height of the bed and my activity was with the hay -- I wasn't paying attention to what the children were doing. I was occupied with the hay, and the height of the truck made it difficult for me to see them."

Q: "Do you recall giving that answer at that time?"

A: "Yes."

Q: "Was that answer correctly given?"

A: "It was correct when given, I guess."

Q: "Okay. With reference to that activity, your noticing the kids down there on the running board, did you given them any instructions or take any action at that time?"

A: "No, I don't think so." (Tr. 80)

LaMark Wignall said the truck was about one-fourth loaded at the time the child was run over and that the truck had been in the field about twenty minutes before the accident and would have been traveling at a speed of between five to eight miles an hour. (Tr. 81) Defendant LaMark Wignall further admitted that he had experience with his own six children not hearing or not seeming to hear instructions and had had experience on play grounds seeing children's interests and activities and being around activities appearing fun and exciting and was aware of children's interests in being along and participating in anything that looks exciting. (Tr. 82)

Upon cross examination by Defendant's own counsel, Defendant LaMark Wignall recalled his explanation in his deposition that as he placed hay bales on the truck and because of the height of the bed, it was difficult for him to see what was going on on the running board, (Tr. 85), and that his observation relative to the activities of the children getting down on the running board would have been made closer to the beginning of operations rather than just before the child was run over. (Tr. 86-87) On redirect LaMark Wignall testified as follows:

Q: "Wasn't it of assistance to have those hay bales straightened around to where they could

feed directly into the baler?"

A: "The straighter they were the better, yes."

Q: "You were aware that Danny had been out earlier doing that and the boys were running ahead to do this, were you not? The olders ones?"

A: "Danny had been out on prior loads. They weren't running ahead of the truck, however."

Q: "On prior loads?"

A: "At any time. They were off to the side, off in the field, straightening up, making rows."

Q: "Yes. Ahead of the truck in the sense that after they straightened the bales, the truck would come along and pick them up?"

A: "Yes."

Q: "Whether or not it was difficult to see the activity of the children, you did see the children, some activity, on the running board, did you not?"

A: "Yes, I noticed they were on the running board."

Q: "That was before the accident?"

A: "Yes."

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