1979

Jerald L. Kilpack v. LaMark Wignall and David Wignall : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Point I

REASONABLE PERSONS COULD REACH DIFFERING CONCLUSIONS AS TO WHETHER OR NOT DEFENDANTS WERE NEGLIGENT AND THUS, THE ISSUE WAS PROPERLY SUBMITTED TO THE JURY AND THERE WAS AN EVIDENTIARY BASIS FOR THE JURY'S VERDICT THAT DEFENDANTS WERE NOT NEGLIGENT

Plaintiff-Respondent does not question the court's instructions on the law in this case. Plaintiff-Respondent argues that the court was in error in failing to grant (1) a Motion For a Directed Verdict that Defendants were negligent as a matter of law and (2) a Motion For a New Trial or in the Alternative a Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict. This court has recently stated the law with respect to reviewing the trial court's actions in Anderson v. Bradley, filed January 22, 1979, as follows:

"The law in Utah is clear that if reasonable minds could have found as the jury did from the evidence before it, then this Court cannot say that the trial court abused its discretion in denying a party's motion for a new trial on the ground of insufficiency of the evidence to support the verdict."

This Court also stated, in McCloud v. Baum, 569 P2d 1125 (Utah, 1977), as follows:

"In reviewing a trial court's rulings pertaining to motions for a directed verdict or judgment n.o. v., this Court reviews the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and to afford him the benefit of all inferences which the evidence fairly supports. If reasonable persons could reach differing conclusions on the issue in controversy, a jury question exists and the motion should be denied."

* * * * *

"In reviewing a trial court's exercise of discretion upon a motion for a new trial, this court examines the record to determine whether the evidence to support the verdict was completely lacking or was so slight and unconvincing as to make the verdict plainly unreasonable and unjust. If there be an evidentiary basis for the jury's decision, then the denial of the new trial must be affirmed."

Defendant-Respondents respectfully submit that based upon the facts of this case, "reasonable minds could reach differing conclusions on the issue

in controversy," i.e. Defendant's negligence and thus, the Court properly denied Plaintiff-Appellants' Motion For a Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict.

Defendant-Respondents also respectfully submit that based on the facts of this case, there was an "evidentiary basis for the jury's decision", that Defendants were not negligent and thus, the Court properly denied Plaintiff-Appellant's Motion For a New Trial.

The Court instructed the jury that:

"Burden of proof means the burden of persuasion. A party who has the burden of proof must persuade you that his claim is more probably true than not true . . . In this case, the Plaintiffs have the burden of persuading you that the Defendant or either of them were negligent and that such negligence was a proximate cause of the injuries and the extent of damages, if any." (R. 50).

The Court then instructed with regard to negligence and Defendant's duty, as follows:

"Negligence is the lack of ordinary care. It is the failure of a person to do something that a reasonably careful person would do, or the act of a person in doing something that a reasonably careful person would not do, measured by all the circumstances then existing." (R. 48).

* * * * *

"It is the duty of the driver of a motor vehicle to use reasonable care under the circumstances in driving that vehicle to avoid danger to himself and others and to observe and be aware of the conditions at the time and place and under the circumstances then existing.

In this connection it is necessary to exercise greater caution for the protection and safety of a young child than for an adult person. One dealing with children must anticipate the ordinary behavior of children. The fact that they usually cannot and do not exercise the same degree of prudence for their own safety as adults, they often are thoughtless and impulsive, imposes a duty to exercise a degree of vigilance and caution commensurate with such circumstances in dealing with children."

(R. 51)

The jury considered the evidence and determined that Plaintiff-Appellants had failed to carry their burden of persuasion that it more probably was true than not true that Defendant-Respondents were negligent. Thus, on the Special Verdict form, the jury answered that Defendant-Respondents were not negligent.

It would be speculative to suggest what factors the jury relied upon in reaching their decision that Defendant-Respondents were not negligent. As this court has recently pointed out in Weeks v. Calderwood, filed January 25, 1979:

"There is no proper means by which we can presume to dissect the jury's deliberations and determine just what factors went into the composite of the verdict."

As additional support for the correctness of the jury's decision was the trial court's refusal to grant Plaintiff-Appellants Motion For a New Trial or Judgment Notwithstanding The Verdict. In this regard, this Court stated, in Weeks v. Calderwood, supra:

"Supplementary to what has just been said, and to be considered in combination therewith, it is the trial court's primary responsibility and prerogative to judge such an attack upon a jury verdict; and that when he has so considered and passed thereon, that adds some further solidarity to the verdict and judgment, and increases the reluctance of this Court to interfere therewith."

The only case cited by Plaintiff-Appellants in support of their argument that based on the facts, reasonable minds would not differ as to Defendants negligence, was Butler v. Sports Haven International, 563 P2d 1245 (Utah, 1977). However, in that case, the lower court had granted Defendant's Motion For Summary Judgment and the Supreme Court reversed holding that Plaintiff should be given the opportunity of presenting his case to a jury. The basis for the court's ruling was stated as follows:

"If there is doubt or uncertainty as to the questions of negligence, proximate cause, or contributory negligence, such that reasonable minds might conclude differently thereon, the doubt should be resolved in favor of granting the plaintiff the privilege of attempting to prove his right to recover on a trial."

The Court recognized that there are "hazards inherent in an open swimming pool, particularly where small children are about" and thus, ruled that "the proposition is sound that reasonable minds may differ as to whether what the Defendant did or failed to do . . . met the required standards of reasonable care under all the circumstances."

In the case at bar, Plaintiff-Appellants were "granted the privilege of attempting to prove their right to recover" to a jury, but the jury found that Plaintiff-Appellants had failed to persuade them that Defendants were negligent under the facts in evidence. A reasonably prudent person cannot always anticipate what a child may do and thus, cannot always protect children from the thoughtless and impulsive acts which children sometimes do, notwithstanding the exercise of vigilance and caution by a reasonably prudent person commensurate with the circumstances.

It is respectfully submitted that under the facts of this case, "reasonable minds might conclude differently" and thus, the Court properly submitted the issue of Defendants negligence to the jury and further, that the jury verdict that Defendants were not negligent was supported by the evidence.

Point II

SINCE THE JURY DETERMINED THAT DEFENDANT-RESPONDENTS WERE NOT NEGLIGENT, THE JURY DID NOT HAVE TO DETERMINE WHETHER OR NOT JESS KILPACK WAS NEGLIGENT NOR DID THE JURY MAKE ANY SUCH DETERMINATION AND IF JURY VERDICT WAS INSUFFICIENT, PLAINTIFF-APPELLANTS WAIVED THEIR RIGHTS TO OBJECT THERETO

On the Special Verdict form, the jury answered question No. 1 as follows:

"(1) Were the Defendants, Wignall, or either of them negligent at the time of the occurrence in question?

Answer: No
(Yes or No)

The jury was not required to answer question No. 2 concerning proximate cause because it stated:

"(2) If your answer to question No. 1 is yes, then answer the following question:" (Emphasis added).

The third and fourth questions were the same as the first and second questions, except they related to Jess Kilpack. The jury did not answer either of these questions. It is submitted that the reason they didn't answer the third and fourth questions was because they didn't feel it was necessary. The jury did not answer the fifth question concerning the percentage apportionment of fault between the parties either because it provided that:

"(5) If you have answered all the previous questions "yes" then, and only then are you to answer this question:" (Emphasis added).

Thus, while the answer to question No. 3 concerning whether or not Jess Kilpack was negligent may have been interesting, it was not necessary to determine once the jury determined its answer to question No. 1 that Defendant-Respondents were not negligent.

Rule 47(r) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states:

"(r) Correction of Verdict. If the verdict rendered is informal or insufficient, it may be corrected by the jury under the advice of the Court, or the jury may be sent out again."

The transcript of record, a copy of which is included herein, as Exhibit A, reflects the identical facts that existed in Weeks v. Calderwood, supra, where this Court stated those facts and ruled as follows:

"At the time the verdict was returned, it was read and taken cognizance of by the court; and the jurors were individually polled as to their agreement therewith. The court then thanked them for their service and excused them. Meanwhile, Plaintiff's counsel sat silently by and made no objection to the verdict until after the jury had left the courtroom. We have heretofore held that under such circumstances, the failure of a party to object to a jury verdict until after the jury has been dismissed, thus removing the possibility of having the jury sent out to further consider or correct its verdict, is the party's right to do so."

Therefore, it is respectfully submitted that Plaintiff-Appellants waived their rights to have the jury make any determination as to whether or not Jess Kilpack was or was not negligent. In addition, since the jury had already made a determination that Defendant-Respondents were not negligent, it really doesn't matter with respect to the final disposition of this matter whether Jess Kilpack was or was not negligent.

Point III

THERE WAS NO IRREGULARITY IN THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE JURY

Plaintiff-Appellants argue that the jury verdict was insufficient because the jury determined special damages, but made no determination with respect to general damages. In this regard, the answer to question No. 6 in the Special Verdict returned by the jury read as follows:

"(6) Without regard to any of the previous questions and your answers thereto, state the amount of damages sustained by the Plaintiffs as a result of the occurrence:

Special damage sustained
by Plaintiff, Jerald

Kilpack \$ 5,594.63

General damage sustained

by Plaintiff, Jess Kilpack \$ " (See Special Verdict)

The Court properly instructed the jury with respect to what special and general damages were and Plaintiff-Appellants do not contend otherwise. Plaintiff-Appellants contend that the jury "disregarded the courts instructions, particularly its instruction as to how to approach the damage question."

Again, however, Plaintiff-Appellant waived their rights to have the jury make a determination as to general damages. Weeks v. Calderwood, *supra*.

In both Cohn v. J. C. Penney Company, Inc., 537 P2d 306 (Utah, 1975) and Langton v. International Transport, Inc., 491 P2d 1211 (Utah, 1971) a similar occurrence took place. The respective juries, in both cases, returned verdicts for the

exact amount of the Plaintiff's claimed special damages, but for no general damages

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
and in these two instances, the verdict forms did provide spaces for both general
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

and special damages. Subsequent to the verdicts and the dismissal of the juries, counsel for both Plaintiffs filed motions for new trials.

In Cohn, this Court said:

"The verdict was deficient in form, and counsel had an opportunity to have the jury sent back for further deliberations. This he did not do, perhaps fearing that the jury might either award some nominal amount or even change the verdict and award nothing to the Plaintiff. It would be a smart trial tactic if he could have had a new trial on damages only before a jury, which would not be acquainted with the weakness of Plaintiff's cause of action. (At 311-12)."

In Langton, this Court said:

"If counsel be permitted to remain mute when a verdict is insufficient or informal, he gains an unfair strategic advantage.*** The silence of Plaintiff's counsel, upon hearing the verdict is comprehensible, he could reasonably have concluded that the jury was unsympathetic to his cause or parsimonious, and he would, of course, prefer a new jury. There must be reasonable rules to control the termination of litigation; if counsel has an opportunity to correct error at the time of its occurrence and he fails to do so, any objection based thereupon is waived. (At 1215)."

It is respectfully submitted that Plaintiff-Appellants counsel's failure to object, so as to have the jury sent back for further deliberations on the amount of general damages, waives any irregularity in the verdict. The damage issue has been determined by the jury and Plaintiffs-Appellants failure to timely object thereto constitutes a waiver and even assuming, arguendo, that this Court was to grant a new trial on the issue of liability, no new trial should be granted with respect to damages.

Plaintiff-Appellants also contend that there was an "irregularity in the proceedings of the jury" in that since the jury "deliberated" for only "one hour to one hour and fifteen minutes" and such "deliberations were during the "jury's lunch period," that "the jury could not have sincerely and conscientiously considered the case and followed the court's instructions."

First it should be pointed out that the jury did not go out for lunch, since their lunch was brought in to them, they reportedly opened their deliberations with prayer, and they remained in the jury room from the time they were sent out, which the record does not reflect, although it was sometime before the noon hour, until they returned with a verdict, which according to the transcript included herein as Exhibit A, was "at the hour of 1:35 p.m." Thus, the jury was out for at least 1 1/2 hours and possibly up to two hours.

Second, regarding the length of time a jury deliberates, the Washington Supreme Court has held that a jury is not guilty of misconduct in a personal injury action merely because it returned a verdict for Defendants after deliberating only 40 minutes, where it could not be said that the issues in the case were so complicated that they could not be decided within 40 minutes. Burback v. Bucher, 355 P2d 981 at 985 (1960).

The issues in this case were fairly simple in that the jury had to determine whether or not either of the parties were negligent and the amount of damages suffered by Plaintiff-Appellants. The Court gave only 12 instructions, which though brief, were straight-forward, correct and adequately covered the law as it applied to the issues which the jury had to decide. The jurors are entitled to a presumption that they conscientiously performed their duties in accordance with their oath. As was stated by this Court in Weeks v. Calderwood, supra:

"The presumption is that jurors conscientiously perform their duties in accordance with their oath and have judged the case according to the evidence presented in Court and the law as stated in the instructions; and this presumption prevails in the absence of some definite and persuasive proof of misconduct from which there would be a substantial likelihood of a different result in the trial. Added to this is the principle that the deliberations of the jury are not ordinarily subject to impeachment."

Plaintiff-Appellants have presented no evidence of any misconduct on the part of the jury. It is not that the jury did not complete the Special Verdict form that concerns Plaintiff-Appellants. It is that the jury did not complete it the way Plaintiff-Appellants think that it should have been completed.

This Court, in Robinson v. Hreinson, 17 Utah 2d 261, 409 P2d 121 (1968), made the following appropriate statements concerning jurors:

"Adjudications upon the functioning of a jury cannot be based upon the assumption that jurors are dishonest or corrupt. . . . On the contrary the success and the merit of the system, which has so long stood the test of time, is necessarily grounded upon what we believe to be the sound premise: that for the most part jurors take their responsibilities seriously; that they attempt to judge the rights of their fellow citizens fairly; and to appraise damages honestly."

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